# WHO competency framework, risk communication and community engagement

For stronger and more inclusive health emergency programmes





# WHO competency framework, risk communication and community engagement

For stronger and more inclusive health emergency programmes



WHO competency framework, risk communication and community engagement: for stronger and more inclusive health emergency programmes

ISBN 978-92-4-009250-1 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-009251-8 (print version)

### © World Health Organization 2024

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/).

**Suggested citation.** WHO competency framework, risk communication and community engagement: for stronger and more inclusive health emergency programmes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2024. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at https://iris.who.int/.

**Sales, rights and licensing.** To purchase WHO publications, see https://www.who.int/publications/book-orders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see https://www.who.int/copyright.

**Third-party materials.** If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

**General disclaimers.** The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Design by Studio FFFOG.

## Contents

| Contents  | iii |
|---|-----|
| Preface   | iv  |
| Acknowledgments   | v   |
| Acronyms  | vi  |
| Glossary  | vii |
| Executive Summary   | іх  |
| 1. Introduction   | 1   |
| 1.1 RCCE as a technical area of work                                  | 1   |
| 1.2 Purpose of the RCCE competency framework                          | 2   |
| 1.3 Scope of the RCCE competency framework                            | 2   |
| 1.4 Target audiences  | 3   |
| 1.5 Goal and objectives of the framework                              | 3   |
| 2. How was the framework developed?                                   | 4   |
| 2.1 Methods   | 4   |
| 2.2 Foundational models   | 5   |
| 2.3 Structure of the framework  | 6   |
| 2.4 RCCE principles and values  | 7   |
| 3. The RCCE competency framework                                      | 8   |
| 3.1 Behavioural competencies  | 8   |
| 3.2 Applying behavioural competencies to practice activities          | 13  |
| 3.3 Practice activities   | 15  |
| 4. Application and future adaptation of the RCCE competency framework | 25  |
| 4.1 RCCE teams at regional, national or organizational levels         | 25  |
| 4.2 Learning experience designers                                     | 26  |
| 4.3 Health and development partners working in health emergencies     | 27  |
| 4.4 Health policymakers and officials                                 | 27  |
| 4.5 Future adaptations and next steps for the competency framework    | 27  |
| 5. References   | 28  |
| 6. Selected further reading   | 30  |
| Annexes   | 31  |
| Annex 1. Foundational models  | 31  |
| Annex 2. Applying the framework to learning pathways                  | 33  |

### Preface

In the evolving landscape of global public health, the importance of effective risk communication and community engagement (RCCE) has become increasingly recognized. Communities are critical partners who must be positioned at the centre of emergency preparedness, readiness and response functions. RCCE is both a technical discipline and a culturally attuned pillar of activity which is essential for achieving Community Protection. In an emergency context RCCE has a special role in ensuring communities are engaged and empowered. Recent public health emergencies have again proven the importance of evidence-based RCCE in aligning health emergency programmes with community needs, capacities and expectations for more inclusive, equitable and effective action.

The RCCE competency framework outlines and defines essential behaviours and activities necessary for inclusive, effective and efficient RCCE. These have been identified through a rigorous process, including evidence review, expert consultation, and practical insights gathered from real-world experiences. They represent a synergy of theory and practice, designed to equip public health professionals with the competencies they need to navigate the complexities of communicating about risk and engaging with communities safely and effectively, using data-driven social-behavioural approaches. This framework emerges during a pivotal juncture, where our collective experiences with public health crises have emphasized the need for clear, credible communication and the active involvement of communities before, during and after health emergencies. It stands as a testament to our commitment to assimilating valuable lessons from these experiences and to fostering a proficient and capable RCCE workforce.

As you explore this competency framework, I encourage you to consider not only the technical dimensions of RCCE activities but also the profound responsibility inherent in these roles, as articulated through the behavioural competencies presented. Our words and actions wield the power to shape public perceptions, influence behaviours, and ultimately, affect the health outcomes of communities and save lives during emergencies. This responsibility necessitates expertise and knowledge, underscored by compassion and integrity.

On behalf of the Country Readiness Strengthening Department (CRS) and the Community Readiness and Resilience Unit, I extend my heartfelt appreciation to all who have contributed to the RCCE competency framework. Your expertise, dedication, and insights are invaluable in shaping a future where the strength of RCCE nurtures prepared and empowered communities, enabling them to navigate public health emergencies with fortitude, solidarity and resilience.

N. Ejh

Dr Nedret Emiroglu Director, Department of Country Readiness Strengthening



## Acknowledgments

The RCCE competency framework was developed by the Risk Communication and Community Engagement Team, within the Community Readiness and Resilience Unit of the Country Readiness Strengthening Department at the World Health Organization (WHO) headquarters. The core team that oversaw its development were Tom Moran, Olivia Tulloch, Suzanne Kerba, Melinda Frost, Vicky Houssiere and Nina Gobat.

WHO extends its gratitude to the many senior-level RCCE staff, consultants and global experts who provided time and inputs into the development of this document: Vivek Achary (MPS Interactive, India), Ombretta Baggio (International Federation of the Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies, Switzerland), Tanya D'Souza (MPS Interactive, India) Anne Gregory (University of Huddersfield, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland) Katherine Harris (Office for the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, Jordan), Charles-Antoine Hofmann (United Nations Children's Fund, Switzerland), Genevieve Hutchinson (BBC Media Action, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland), Humberto Jaime (United Nations Children's Fund, Switzerland), Rachel T Maher (United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, Switzerland), Eva Niederberger (Anthrologica, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland), Benjamin Noble (International Federation of the Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies, Switzerland), Monica Posada (International Federation of the Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies, Switzerland), Gabriel Sadi (University of Huddersfield, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland) and Jill Shah (MPS Interactive, India).

WHO would like to acknowledge and thank the following WHO regional and headquarters focal points for their valuable contributions to developing the framework: Aminata Grace Kobie and Daudi Ochieng (Regional Office for Africa); Tanya Escamilla and Sebastian Oliel (Regional Office for the Americas); Rose Aynsley, Supriya Bezbaruah and Reuben Samuel (Regional Office for South-East Asia); Altug Akin, Philippe Borremans, Cristiana Salvi, Martha Scherzer and Simon van Woerden (Regional Office for Europe); Peggy Hanna, Marwa Kamel and Dalia Samhouri (Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean); Ljubica Latinovic and Lieke Visser (Regional Office for the Western Pacific); Elena Altieri, Yolanda Bayugo, Brian Riley and Sameera Suri (headquarters).

Declarations: Declarations of interest were collected and assessed for all external contributors. No conflicts of interest were judged to be significant.

Financial support for the preparation of this guidance was provided by the United States of America Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) for the qualitative research and stakeholder insights which informed the contents of the framework, collected by MPS under Interactive Cooperative Agreement Number GH002225.

# Acronyms

| CDC  | United States of America Centers for Disease Control and Prevention |
|------|---|
| CSO  | Civil-society organization  |
| HEPR | Health emergency prevention, preparedness, response and resilience  |
| IHR  | International Health Regulations                                    |
| IM   | Infodemic management  |
| IMS  | Incident management system  |
| JEE  | Joint External Evaluation   |
| MEL  | Measurement, evaluation, and learning                               |
| NGO  | Non-governmental organization                                       |
| RCCE | Risk communication and community engagement                         |
| SPAR | States Parties Self-assessment annual reporting                     |
| SOP  | Standard operating procedure  |
| ToR  | Terms of reference  |
| WHO  | World Health Organization   |



# Glossary

Multiple conceptualisations and definitions exist for the terminology relating to competencies within a workforce. Effective application of a competency framework requires clarity and consistency of terms, definitions and concepts. This framework adopts the below explanations for the terms used in the document.

| Attitude                            | A person's feelings, values and beliefs that influence behaviour and performance of tasks.  |
|-------------------------------------|---|
| Behaviour*                          | Observable conduct towards other people or tasks, that expresses a competency.<br>Behaviours are measurable in the performance of tasks.  |
| Behavioural<br>insights             | Information about variables that influence behaviours at the individual, community, and population level and can improve the design of policies and programmes, communications, and products and services.  |
| Behavioural<br>science              | The rigorous and systematic application of multidisciplinary scientific methods that deal with human action, its psychological, social and environmental drivers, determinants and influencing factors.   |
| Community                           | A group of people connected by common characteristics, such as geographic location, age, gender, profession, ethnicity, faith, shared vulnerability or risk, or shared interests and values.  |
| Community<br>engagement             | The collaborative process that involves people in understanding the risks they face and includes communities in developing health and response practices that are acceptable and workable for them. The goal of community engagement is to empower communities and to develop shared leadership throughout the health emergency response cycle (1). |
| Community<br>protection             | Implementation and uptake of population and environmental interventions to protect health and well-being of people who are affected by emergency events in ways that are acceptable, meaningful and relevant to them and do not inadvertently do harm (2).  |
| Competence*                         | The state of proficiency of a person to perform required activities to a defined standard. This incorporates having the competencies to do this in a given context. It is multidimensional and changes with time, experience and setting.   |
| Competency*                         | The abilities of a person to integrate knowledge, skills and attitudes in their performance of tasks in a given context. Competencies are durable, trainable and, through the expression of behaviours, measurable.   |
| Competency-<br>based<br>curriculum* | A curriculum that emphasizes the complex outcomes of learning rather than what learners are expected to learn about in terms of subject content.  |
| Competency<br>framework             | An organized and structured representation of a set of interrelated and purposeful competencies need for effective performance in a particular area of work.  |
| Domain*                             | A broad, distinguishable area of content; domains, in aggregate, constitute a general descriptive framework.  |
| Health<br>emergency<br>cycle        | The phases of prevention, preparedness, readiness, response and recovery relating to health emergencies to reduce the impact of a crisis. Countries and communities may be engaged in different phases for multiple outbreaks and emergencies simultaneously.   |
| Evidence                            | Evidence is the outcome of a systematic and structured process where data is collected, processed and analysed to answer a specific predefined question.  |

- viii -

| Evidence-<br>informed<br>decision making | A systematic and structured transparent approach to identify, appraise, and use evidence<br>for decision-making processes, including for implementation. Decisions should be<br>informed by the best available evidence from research, as well as other factors such as<br>context, public opinion, equity, feasibility, affordability, sustainability, and acceptability to<br>stakeholders (3). |
|--|---|
| Infodemic                                | An infodemic is an overabundance of information, accurate or not, in the digital and physical space, accompanying an acute health event such as an outbreak or epidemic (4).  |
| Knowledge*                               | The informational base of competencies and activities: The recall of specifics and universals, the recall of methods and processes, and/or the recall of a pattern, structure, or setting.  |
| Outbreak                                 | Occurrence of cases of a disease above what would normally be expected in a defined community, geographical area, or season.  |
| Partners                                 | International, non-governmental or community organizations that work in a geographic area or health field.  |
| (Individual<br>work)<br>performance*     | What an organization hires one to do and do well. Performance is a function of competence, motivation and opportunity to participate or contribute. Competence reflects what a person <b>can</b> do, performance is what a person <b>does</b> do.   |
| (Practice)<br>activity*                  | A core function of practice comprising a group of related tasks. Practice activities are time limited, trainable and, through the performance of tasks, measurable.   |
| Proficiency*                             | A person's level of performance (for example, novice or expert).  |
| Readiness                                | The ability of countries, communities and organizations to be able to respond quickly<br>and effectively to health emergencies from any hazard. Operational readiness is a critical<br>enabler of resilience in communities and health systems, helping them to withstand crisis.   |
| Resilience                               | The ability of a system, community or society exposed to hazards to resist, absorb, accommodate, adapt to, transform and recover from the effects of a hazard in a timely and efficient manner, including through the preservation and restoration of its essential basic structures and functions through risk management <i>(1)</i> .   |
| Response                                 | The phase of a health emergency or outbreak activated once a hazard, risk or threat hits, with the implementation of life-saving public health and health interventions to save lives and protect the most vulnerable.  |
| Risk<br>communication                    | Real-time exchange of information, advice, and opinions between experts and people who face health threats. Its purpose is to provide people with accurate and timely information and to support them to making informed decisions to mitigate the effects of a threat (1).   |
| Skill*                                   | A specific cognitive or motor ability that is typically developed through training and practice and is not context specific.  |
| Stakeholders                             | A stakeholder is an individual or group with an interest or concern in a particular project, organization, or decision, potentially affected by or influencing its outcomes.  |
| Supervision*                             | The provision of guidance and support in learning and working effectively by observing and directing the execution of tasks or activities and making certain that everything is done correctly and safely, from a position of being in charge.  |
| Task*                                    | Observable unit of work within a practice activity that draws on knowledge, skills and attitudes Tasks are time limited, trainable and measurable.  |

Key definitions are referenced. Those marked with \* are consistent in Mills et al., 2020 and WHO, 2022 (6,7).

# **Executive Summary**

The RCCE competency framework is a resource that details the essential behaviours and activities necessary for effective communication and engagement with communities before, during and after public health emergencies. They are essential for creating inclusive, fair and cohesive health emergency programmes that build trust and protect the most vulnerable. RCCE enables and empowers individuals and communities to assess risk, and to take informed decisions that protect their health during emergencies. Further, through participatory and inclusive practice that draws on community assets and social connections, RCCE builds on and strengthens community resilience. Behavioural competencies, which are vital for RCCE practitioners' professional performance, can be observed in how individuals interact with others and how they carry out specific tasks. Together, the behaviours and activities are instrumental in building resilient, trusted relationships with communities and fostering collaboration with teams throughout the health emergency management cycle.

The purpose of this framework is to establish and promote a common understanding of these behavioural competencies and how they should be applied for high-performing and community-centred health emergency programmes. It is intended to support the development of standardized training programmes, professional development and talent acquisition and to enhance the capabilities of public health professionals involved in RCCE. Its goal is to inform the establishment of a skilled, well-trained RCCE workforce that consistently understands and executes the necessary behaviours and activities required to conduct RCCE activities with competence and professionalism.

The framework is organized into five behavioural competency domains and three technical areas of practice activities. This structure is in alignment with World Health Organization (WHO) guidance and standard operating procedures for developing competency frameworks (7-9). The activities are categorized based on two systems that countries use to evaluate and report RCCE progress: the States Parties Self-assessment annual reporting tool (SPAR) and the Joint External Evaluation (JEE) which combine risk communication and community engagement as an integrated capacity (10,11). These tools are used to measure compliance to the International Health Regulations, 2005, and as such are familiar to governments and health emergency response teams.

### **BEHAVIOURAL COMPETENCIES**

**Domain 1** Community-centred approaches

**Domain 2** Leadership and decision-making

**Domain 3** Communication

**Domain 4** Collaboration

**Domain 5** Evidence-informed practice



### **PRACTICE ACTIVITIES**

**Technical area 1** RCCE system for emergencies

**Technical area 2** Risk communication

**Technical area 3** Community engagement



These competencies, tasks and activities represent the latest understanding of how RCCE, as a technical discipline, works to inform and empower communities in crisis. They emerged from a rigorous review of existing frameworks and evidence as well as the experience of leading RCCE practitioners.

The framework provides a comprehensive and cohesive set of competencies and activities that can and should be adapted to develop skills among RCCE practitioners working across the health emergency management cycle. It provides a blueprint for effective cross-functional teams. It can be used by and is applicable for RCCE focal points working for a broad range of agencies and partners including, from governments, United Nations (UN) agencies, international and local nongovernmental organizations (NGOs), civil society, health emergency response teams and capacity-building experts.





# **1. Introduction**

### 1.1 RCCE as a technical area of work

Risk communication and community engagement (RCCE) is a critical public health intervention and technical discipline that should be applied across all phases of the health emergency management cycle. Effective RCCE teams collaborate and align with other technical units to increase trust through strategic communication, co-develop solutions with communities and maintain RCCE capacity at emergency levels, even in the absence of an emergency (12). RCCE actions should be consistently informed by evidence that draws on social and behavioural science to bring communities to the forefront of action. Informed, engaged and empowered communities can help to detect new diseases and organize more rapid and cohesive responses to disease outbreaks or crises, saving lives and minimizing the broader social and economic impact (2).

RCCE involves two closely linked concepts that are increasingly seen as a combined technical area. Risk communication is a fundamental capacity that all countries must develop as signatories to the International Health Regulations (IHR), 2005 (*13*). However, updated IHR reporting mechanisms (the SPAR tool and the JEE) and IHR benchmarks present risk communication with community engagement as a set of combined and linked capacities (*1*,*10*,*11*).

It is important to understand the distinctions of the two concepts:

**Risk communication** is a multi-level and multi-faceted process; it aims to help stakeholders define risks, identify hazards, assess vulnerabilities, and promote community resilience (14). It involves the real-time exchange of information, advice and opinions between experts or officials and individuals facing health threats. It enables people to make informed decisions to mitigate the effects of a threat and take protective and preventive measures (1).

**Community engagement** develops relationships and structures for stakeholders to work together to promote well-being, achieve positive health outcomes and empower communities to lead, plan and implement initiatives as equal partners. It co-develops solutions and adapts and localizes health emergency programmes by working collaboratively with groups of people affiliated by geographic proximity, identity, ways of communication, shared interest, similar situations, or health conditions (1).

Taken together as RCCE they have proven themselves essential for more inclusive, equitable and effective health emergency programmes that save lives and protect livelihoods. As such, they are now routinely included and joined in key global and regional frameworks. The framework for Health Emergency Preparedness, Response and Resilience (HEPR), built from over 300 recommendations from lessons learned during the COVID-19 pandemic, positions RCCE as a core technical approach for protecting the health and well-being of those directly affected by health emergencies (2). Community protection is achieved through population and environmental interventions that are specifically targeted to the health emergency. These interventions reduce the risk and scale of infectious disease transmission by reducing exposure to the pathogen or making exposure safer. Implementing these interventions can create social and economic disruption and, if not done in a way that is sensitive to existing inequities and context, they can inadvertently do harm. RCCE can enable strategies for implementing interventions in ways that are acceptable, meaningful and relevant to those affected by accounting for these wider contextual dimensions. Further, HEPR has strong alignment with regional strategies for health emergency preparedness readiness and response while The Pandemic Influenza Preparedness Framework further highlights the need to continue investing in RCCE for strengthened community protection (2,15).

### 1.2 Purpose of the RCCE competency framework

The purpose of this framework is to describe the competencies needed by the RCCE workforce to perform their work effectively and confidently, delivering outcomes that protect the health and wellbeing of those affected by health emergencies and strengthen resilience.

Recent public health emergencies, including the COVID-19 pandemic, have offered crucial lessons about integrating RCCE into strategy and planning initiatives to better align emergency programmes with the needs and expectations of communities. To respond to these lessons, a structured approach to promote consistency in RCCE practice is needed. This framework is therefore positioned as a foundational component of a comprehensive RCCE curriculum being developed by WHO. The framework is designed to act as a reference tool; it is not intended as a regulatory tool.

Key areas where this framework can be applied.

- Workforce development: as a standardised reference for developing competencies of a team.
- Needs assessment: to guide development of tools for self-assessments and/or observed assessments to identify individual or group competencies, capacities and areas in need of improvement.
- **Professional development:** to guide the creation of learning pathways and planning for achieving higher proficiency levels.
- **Recruitment:** as a reference source for more consistent terms of reference (ToR) and job descriptions.
- **Performance assessment:** as a reference source for developing indicators to assess performance.
- **Programme development:** as a foundation for learning and training programmes and curricula development.

### 1.3 Scope of the RCCE competency framework

The scope of this document reflects current accepted best practice in RCCE as a core component of strategic frameworks for managing health emergencies in community-centred ways. It encapsulates the most recent developments and understanding in RCCE and reflects the ongoing evolution in the global architecture and pillars for prevention, preparedness, readiness, response and recovery. It will be periodically reviewed and updated to integrate new knowledge and experiences. The application of the framework across technical pillars should contribute to overall resilience: enabling systems, communities or societies to resist, absorb, accommodate, adapt to, transform and efficiently recover from the effects of an emergency (5).

The framework is intended to be adapted and applied by RCCE teams at regional and country levels and, where relevant, shared with other stakeholders. Its application may be enhanced by aligned guidance, training curricula and frameworks from related fields and technical areas, tailored to the team's size and scope. A list of selected resources which can inform these processes is provided in the Selected Further Reading section of this document. While the framework's primary focus is RCCE, its content and principles may also be adapted to support other aligned programmatic areas, such as Health Promotion, Accountability for Affected Populations, Social Behaviour Change and Community Engagement and Accountability.

There is considerable diversity in the range of roles and job profiles within RCCE teams and in different settings. This framework emphasizes the importance of identifying behaviours and tasks to be done, rather than defining competencies for specific job profiles (7). However, the framework can serve as a foundation for the development of job profiles and in designing performance evaluations for specific roles. Application of the framework will contribute to stronger more consistent RCCE planning, coordination, implementation and human resource management needed by teams working on RCCE at all levels throughout the health emergency management cycle. It will also encourage participation, which helps build the trust and social cohesion that are essential for successful RCCE practice. Structured to align with IHR benchmarks and reporting mechanisms (1,10,11), the application of the framework will also support activities associated with IHR compliance and reporting.

### 1.4 Target audiences

The RCCE competency framework caters to a broad range of stakeholders. It is a tool which can be applied in different ways by each of the following groups:

- RCCE teams who undertake the design, implementation, and evaluation of strategies and plans that aim to provide tailored, equitable and effective RCCE;
- academic institutions and capacity development experts that offer training programmes related to public health, or RCCE;
- emergency response teams involved in response before, during and after health and complex emergencies;
- policymakers and health administrators making decisions in the health sectors at governmental and non-governmental levels;
- civil society and community-based organizations (CSOs) involved in local health and community initiatives;
- health and development partners working on public health issues and/or RCCE;
- the public health workforce involved in service provision and community outreach.

Section 4 of the framework provides more detail on the application of the framework by these groups.

### 1.5 Goal and objectives of the framework

The goal of this framework is to inform the establishment of a consistent, well-trained RCCE workforce with a common understanding of the behaviours and activities required to conduct RCCE activities for public health emergencies properly and professionally. To achieve this goal, the framework has the following objectives:

- 1. Establish a universally recognized, accepted and consistent set of behavioural competencies and practice activities that will:
  - enhance RCCE capabilities for more equitable and community-focused action;
  - strengthen coordination and collaboration among stakeholders;
  - position communities as active, equal partners in preparedness, readiness and response activities;
  - establish effective, inclusive and multidirectional communication mechanisms.
- 2. Provide foundational resources to standardize RCCE practices by supporting the development of:
  - educational curricula and learning initiatives;
  - evaluation tools for ongoing assessment and oversight of professional RCCE practices and outcomes;
  - staff recruitment processes tailored to local needs, ensuring the acquisition of suitable human resources for RCCE.

# 2. How was the framework developed?

### 2.1 Methods

The Risk Communication and Community Engagement team at WHO in Geneva developed this framework through an exploratory and consultative process. There were three main steps to link conceptual and theoretical insights with expert participation to establish the competencies detailed herein.

### Step one - Foundational work

### Desk review

 Existing competency frameworks, RCCE guidelines, job profiles and best practices to identify foundational elements were reviewed; training material was assessed to identify operational and capacity strengths and challenges faced by RCCE teams when preparing for and responding to emergencies.

### Stakeholder engagement

 Expert RCCE practitioners and capacity development academics were engaged to take part in two rounds of interviews, discussions and consultations.

### Step two - Formulation of competencies

 A needs analysis was done, with contributions from the stakeholder group to evaluate current gaps in RCCE capabilities, capacities, and practices at global, regional and country levels, and provide formative content for competencies.

- Personas were developed to represent individual role-specific tasks that could inform development of generic competencies.
- A set of draft competencies was developed and shared with the stakeholder group. Feedback was incorporated.

### Step three - Alignment and structure

- The competencies formulated in step two were complemented by existing published relevant frameworks and resources (7,11,16-23). Another round of feedback was undertaken.
- The competencies were refined by the WHO RCCE team who then structured it in alignment to the foundational model for competency frameworks commonly used and applied by WHO and the RCCE core capacities for preparedness in the JEE/SPAR tools (7,10,11).
- The consolidated framework document was drafted in alignment with WHO SOPs and guidance. It was shared with the working group and agreement on the revised structure and content was reached through participation in a final review meeting.

### **BEHAVIOURAL COMPETENCIES**

**Domain 1** Community-centred approaches

**Domain 2** Leadership and decision-making

**Domain 3** Communication

**Domain 4** Collaboration

**Domain 5** Evidence-informed practice



### PRACTICE ACTIVITIES

**Technical area 1** RCCE system for emergencies

Technical area 2 Risk communication

Technical area 3 Community engagement



### 2.2 Foundational models

The core content of the framework is organized into five behavioural competency domains and three technical areas of practice activities:

The structure of separating behaviours and activities is in alignment with WHO guidance, and standard operating procedures for developing competency frameworks (7-9). Together, they should guide users toward a common understanding of the essential competencies that underpin all RCCE practice and demonstrate how these competencies can be applied to foster more equitable and cohesive RCCE programmes. These resources emphasize the importance of an individual's behavioural competencies that enable them to perform activities and tasks. The inclusion of behaviours into this framework is important (see Section 3.1); they are often overlooked by learning and training programmes, yet they are essential elements of effective action between emergency response systems and communities. Frameworks that identify competencies in isolation can be abstract whereas those that focus exclusively on activities can overlook the necessary behaviours of the individual who performs those activities (7).

The framework defines the technical areas of practice activity through which the behavioural competencies are applied by RCCE practitioners and other health emergency staff (see Section 3.3). They are categorized according the RCCE capacities set out in the IHR SPAR and JEE tools (10,11). These tools informed the selection of practice activities and were also complemented other relevant competency frameworks and resources. Annex 1 provides supplementary detail on putting behavioural competencies into practice, drawing from the conceptual frameworks on which this document is based.

### **KEY CONCEPTS**

**Behaviour** is defined as the observable conduct towards other people or tasks that express a competency. Behavioural competencies are, "the abilities of a person to integrate knowledge, skills and attitudes in their performance of tasks in a given context" (6). They are durable, trainable and, can be measured through the performance of tasks. Behaviours are person-centric. They represent ongoing habits that enable an individual to perform different roles and responsibilities.

**Practice activities** comprise the observable core functions of work, they are groups of tasks that may be undertaken by individuals or groups of individuals. They are time-limited and through the performance of tasks, measurable. Effective performance of activities is underpinned by multiple competencies, usually simultaneously (7).

### 2.3 Structure of the framework

RCCE comprises public health interventions that should be applied across all phases of the health emergency management cycle; it is essential to coordinate the various activities that span the wide range of tasks and behaviours. The components of this framework are deliberately generic and designed to be localized and applied in all health emergency settings. Ideally, the foundations of activities are initiated during prevention, preparedness and readiness phases, then maintained throughout response and recovery. The content of the framework was compiled by the WHO RCCE team, informed by the consultation process with the stakeholder group and existing RCCE literature. A summary of key tasks and when they take place across the health emergency management cycle is shown in Fig. 1.

### Fig. 1 Key behaviours and tasks across the health emergency management cycle

|  | BEH  | AVIOURAL COMPETEN   | CIES   |  |
|--|--|---|--|--|
| Community-centred approaches   | Leadership   | Communication   | Collaboration  | Evidence-informed<br>practice  |
| Places communities<br>at the centre of all<br>RCCE practice and<br>promotes community<br>empowerment | Exhibits leadership,<br>professional conduct,<br>methodical decision-<br>making, applies<br>technical expertise,<br>manages conflict | Listens actively<br>and attentively<br>and communicates<br>purposefully and<br>professionally | Cultivates<br>teamwork and<br>builds partnerships<br>and collaborative<br>engagement | Advocates for<br>the principles of<br>evidence-informed<br>practice and assesses<br>and uses relevant<br>data and evidence |
|  |  |   |  |  |
|  |  | TASKS   |  |  |
| •  | •  | •   | •  | •  |
| prevention >   | preparedness $>$   | <b>READINESS</b>  | <b>RESPONSE</b>  | RECOVERY   |
| Map readiness and response actors  | <ul> <li>Develop RCCE plans</li> <li>Assess available</li> </ul>   | <ul><li>Update RCCE plans</li><li>Collect and compile</li></ul>                               | Maintain     coordination  | <ul> <li>Conduct after-action<br/>reviews</li> </ul>   |
| Map capacity   | evidence   | evidence  | mechanisms   | <ul> <li>Adapt capacity<br/>building initiatives</li> </ul>  |
| Identify vulnerable<br>and/or under-<br>represented groups   | <ul> <li>Establish<br/>coordination<br/>mechanisms</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>Prime coordination<br/>mechanisms and<br/>operational resource</li> </ul>            | <ul> <li>Integrate RCCE<br/>activities into<br/>response pillars</li> </ul>          | based upon lessons<br>learned  |
| Identify gaps in knowledge and   | <ul> <li>Maintain partners<br/>and relationships</li> </ul>  | <ul><li>plan</li><li>Continue testing</li></ul>   | <ul> <li>Create and<br/>implement<br/>evidence plan</li> </ul>                       | <ul><li> Revise RCCE plans</li><li> Reinforce</li></ul>  |
| systems  | Pre-position plans   | content   | Use evidence   | partnerships and relationships   |
| Establish<br>partnerships and<br>relationships   | Continue testing and delivering content  | Maintain partners     and relationships   | Adapt content  | <ul> <li>Plan longer term<br/>capacity building</li> </ul>   |
| Develop, test and<br>deliver content and   | <ul><li>and messages</li><li>Develop MEL</li></ul>   | <ul> <li>Initiate MEL<br/>processes</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>Adapt and deliver<br/>RCCE activities</li> </ul>                            |  |
| messages   | processes  | <ul> <li>Respond to capacity<br/>building needs</li> </ul>                                    | <ul> <li>Conduct inter-actio<br/>reviews</li> </ul>                                  | n  |
|  | <ul> <li>Assess and respond<br/>to capacity needs</li> </ul>   | C C   | • Implement MEL pla  | n  |
|  |  |   | <ul> <li>Continue to develo<br/>capacity</li> </ul>                                  | р  |

### 2.4 RCCE principles and values

It is crucial that members of RCCE teams are aware of the guiding principles (illustrated in Fig. 2) of RCCE practice in public health emergencies (24). The principles are relevant to all areas of RCCE action and should be supported by the values that underpin any individual's professional RCCE behaviour. Values are the basic and fundamental beliefs that guide or motivate attitudes or actions (25). Those presented in Fig. 2 are the core values commonly documented in the RCCE literature and were identified in the process of developing the behavioural competencies for this framework.



### Fig. 2 Principles and values for RCCE

Respectful, collaborative, ethical, impartial, tactful, equitable, empowering, honest, culturally sensitive.

Source: Adapted from Collective Service (2019) COVID-19 global risk communication and community engagement strategy – interim guidance (24).

# **3. The RCCE competency framework**

### 3.1 Behavioural competencies

The competencies detailed in this section represent the behaviours that RCCE practitioners are expected to exhibit in their professional roles. The behaviours are interconnected, and they often occur together within a single task and across multiple tasks associated with the role and responsibilities of RCCE practitioners. While attitudes, beliefs and motivations are intrinsic to these observable behaviours, they are not explicitly described here (7). The behaviours described should be universal to good RCCE practice and are important to drive organizational success and foster an environment where RCCE practice can thrive.

### **BEHAVIOURAL DOMAIN 1. COMMUNITY-CENTRED APPROACHES**

These behaviours are central to delivering RCCE initiatives that incorporate community perspectives and solutions. They emphasize community-centric and whole-of-society approaches for managing public health emergencies. Empowering communities to have increased control over their lives is a critical factor in building community resilience and in the success of health emergency response. Meaningful participation and sustained engagement of all communities and individuals are fundamental to community resilience and emergency programming as there is an established relationship built on trust, ownership over interventions and accountability between stakeholders (24).

### Competency 1. Places communities at the centre of all RCCE practice

- 1.1. Integrates the principles and values of RCCE into engagement with communities.
- 1.2. Adopts an approach to RCCE practice that is non-discriminatory, non-judgemental and nonstigmatizing.
- 1.3. Tailors RCCE activities, tools, products and programmes to reflect the local context, giving priority to the protection of vulnerable groups and harmonizing with local structures.
- 1.4. Displays sensitivity to distinctive local circumstances, including diversity, vulnerabilities, norms and customs, focusing efforts on the specific needs of affected populations.

### **Competency 2. Promotes community empowerment**

- 2.1. Demonstrates respect for the autonomy, perspectives, preferences, priorities and rights of communities, acknowledging that affected populations are knowledgeable and legitimate partners in preparedness, readiness and response efforts.
- 2.2. Engages and collaborates with communities and their representatives, ensuring timely and effective two-way information sharing, learning and consensus building.
- 2.3. Enhances the capacities and capabilities of affected populations, equipping them with the understanding they need to participate in driving change, making decisions and co-creating solutions that are acceptable and workable for them.
- 2.4. Represents community interests, and advocates for their needs, facilitating mechanisms that allow communities to keep duty-bearers accountable for their promises and actions.

### **BEHAVIOURAL DOMAIN 2. LEADERSHIP AND DECISION-MAKING**

RCCE teams must be capable of operating in uncertain and rapidly evolving situations whilst upholding the highest professional standards and ensuring the welfare of their colleagues. All actions taken by an RCCE practitioner in the course of their work require judicious management and decision-making which has consequences for others with whom they work, or the communities they serve. The complexity of the decisions to be made, the implications of those decisions, and the level of judgement differ based upon one's role and responsibility. However, to implement RCCE, all team members require competencies in leadership and to making effective and timely decisions in a variety of circumstances.

### **Competency 3. Exhibits leadership**

- 3.1. Articulates a clear vision and adjusts priorities to respond to evolving situations and demands.
- 3.2. Delegates authority judiciously, optimizes roles and responsibilities to maximize team strengths and operational efficiency within collaborative frameworks.
- 3.3. Fosters an environment that empowers and motivates, aligned with RCCE principles and values.
- 3.4. Sets a strong personal example, maintaining composure under pressure and applying emotional intelligence to address differences of opinion and manage stressful situations.

### Competency 4. Applies a methodical approach to decision-making

- 4.1. Demonstrates critical thinking to reach decisions that are judicious, evidence-based and actionable, using a strategic and analytical mindset.
- 4.2. Makes decisions that reflect the complexity and urgency of a situation.
- 4.3. Assesses the potential outcomes and implications of decisions made.

### **Competency 5. Demonstrates professional conduct**

- 5.1. Takes ownership of and responsibility for consistently delivering work of the highest standards of professional excellence, recognizing situational constraints, risks and benefits.
- 5.2. Maintains self-awareness by acknowledging personal beliefs, biases, emotional responses, assumptions and values.
- 5.3. Organizes RCCE activities effectively to ensure that intended outcomes are achieved, and legal and ethical principles are maintained.
- 5.4. Acts accountably and ensures adherence to organizational standards for human resources, financial and administrative management.

### **Competency 6. Constructively manages tensions and conflicts**

- 6.1. Proactively recognizes and addresses areas of potential tension or conflict.
- 6.2. Values different perspectives in the pursuit of compromise, consensus or resolution, within the team and in RCCE practice.
- 6.3. Actively intervenes to prevent and mitigate instances of abuse, harassment or other forms of disruptive behaviour within the team and in RCCE practice.

- 10 -

#### **Competency 7. Applies technical expertise**

- 7.1. Exhibits role-appropriate understanding of core technical areas: public health, community protection, health emergency frameworks (e.g. HEPR, IHR, incident management system (IMS)), and interrelationships between policymakers, global agencies and other stakeholders.
- 7.2. Considers potential risks and unintended consequences of RCCE activities and identifies how to mitigate those risks.
- 7.3. Champions the role of RCCE across the health emergency management cycle and upholds humanitarian principles with conviction.
- 7.4. Applies specialized technical expertise commensurate with level of responsibility.
- 7.5. Pursues ongoing professional development to enhance theoretical knowledge and practical skills.

### **BEHAVIOURAL DOMAIN 3. COMMUNICATION**

Communication is important in all professional work, and for RCCE practitioners it is fundamental in how they effectively guide, inform, support, mobilize and collaborate with communities, emergency response actors, the media and other stakeholders. Communication is an interactive process that requires mindful expression of one's own verbal and non-verbal communication. This competency underscores the foundational principles that shape communication behaviours. For specific practice activities and tasks relating to communication, refer to section 3.3 of this framework.

### **Competency 8. Listens actively and attentively**

- 8.1. Demonstrates empathetic and active listening and provides thoughtful responses.
- 8.2. Supports others to ask questions and openly express ideas and opinions and share experiences.
- 8.3. Responds sensitively and non-judgementally to what others express.

#### Competency 9. Communicates purposefully and professionally

- 9.1. Adheres to principles of communication by providing information that is relevant, timely, accurate, clear, coherent, concise and logical.
- 9.2. Strives for multi-directional engagement with communities using the best approaches to reach different groups and transparently explaining their identity and actions.
- 9.3. Communicates using accessible language and terminology, explaining complex content with understandable terms, adapting style for different types of output and audiences and acknowledging the influence of language and culture on communication.
- 9.4. Uses a variety of communication tools and techniques, including verbal, non-verbal, visual, written and digital approaches.
- 9.5. Places an emphasis on being first, fast and accurate with information sharing and engagement.

### **BEHAVIOURAL DOMAIN 4. COLLABORATION**

Collaborating with teams, affected populations and the broadest array of stakeholders is critical before, during and after a public health emergency. It is essential for whole-of-society approaches that engage and empower local communities and stakeholders. Strong coordination and collaboration is essential for emergency management to ensure that resources and partners are working effectively together *(26)*.

### **Competency 10. Cultivates teamwork**

10.1. Upholds high professional standards in all interactions, both within the team and with external partners.

- 10.2. Delivers constructive, sensitive and timely feedback, support and advice, nurturing an atmosphere conducive to transparency and psychological safety.
- 10.3. Builds and maintains relationships in the team, engaging and collaborating through consensus and problem solving despite cultural, geographical, organizational and sectoral differences.
- 10.4. Employs different approaches to facilitation and collaboration techniques to understand and document concerns, perspectives and suggestions.

### Competency 11. Builds partnerships and collaborative engagement

- 11.1. Guides partners and teams to align with and actively contribute to the vision, purpose and strategic objectives of RCCE.
- 11.2. Cultivates positive and forward-thinking relationships and partnerships (including with affected populations and the media), characterized by mutual trust and strategic value.
- 11.3. Collaborates with diverse community representatives and stakeholders to ensure inclusive representation in RCCE activities and to pursue common objectives.
- 11.4. Seeks to engage partners with different capacities and backgrounds, inspiring and mobilizing collective action and joint problem resolution.

### **BEHAVIOURAL DOMAIN 5: EVIDENCE-INFORMED PRACTICE**

Making sure that RCCE practice is based on evidence ensures that technical work and solutions are grounded on a solid and rigorous and foundation. RCCE teams play a critical role in transforming evidence into messages, materials and interventions that influence behaviours and can save lives. A structured and accessible approach to using evidence fosters trust, inclusion and shared ownership of strategies and actions. Generating, analysing and using diverse sources of scientific data and research is fundamental to effective emergency management. Using evidence from social and behavioural sciences is crucial, as well as data from biomedical and other public health technical areas. It should promote inclusive public health emergency management, meaningful engagement and community-centred practice.

### Competency 12. Advocates the principles of evidence-informed practice

12.1. Articulates the importance of RCCE practice being rooted in scientific approach and rigour and informed by evidence.

- 12.2. Promotes use of evidence to inform RCCE and wider response activity.
- 12.3. Collaborates with networks of experts, scientists and academics to facilitate evidence generation, interpretation and use.
- 12.4. Ensures external researchers adhere to appropriate ethical standards in their work.

### Competency 13. Assesses and uses relevant evidence

- 13.1. Participates in seeking evidence from social and behavioural sciences to inform RCCE activity.
- 13.2. Uses a structured and replicable approach to gather evidence to deliver key RCCE tasks.
- 13.3. Uses evidence for specific purposes and can describe that purpose.
- 13.4. Critically evaluates the limitations, quality, relevance and application of evidence.
- 13.5. Communicates structured, comprehensible and accurate evidence and analytics with appropriate audiences to update and enhance RCCE practice.



# 3.2 Applying behavioural competencies to practice activities

The behaviours described in the previous section should be demonstrated in the activities and tasks of RCCE practitioners described in the following section. An individual's behavioural competencies enable them to perform their tasks.

The practice activities are organized into three technical areas (shown in Fig.3, see next page). These areas align with the current country reporting mechanisms (SPAR and the JEE) used to assess capacities for RCCE preparedness under the IHR (1,10,11).

Each practice activity describes a core technical function of RCCE, collectively forming a comprehensive set of activities for RCCE practice across the health emergency management cycle. It is important to acknowledge the dual nature of RCCE practice – one aspect involves engagement with affected populations, while the other entails collaboration with technical response teams. Activities therefore must ensure alignment between technical aspects and community needs.

The individual practice activities encompass groups of related tasks that may be undertaken by individuals or groups. A single occupational group or role is not expected to have responsibilities across all practice activities. Roles and responsibilities and the number of RCCE team members vary significantly across countries and teams. Therefore, this framework does not assign tasks to specific roles but serves as an organising framework to describe the range of RCCE activities and tasks. The scope of an RCCE team to undertake the activities and tasks will depend on the size of the team. The specific scope and level of ambition of the activities undertaken are intended to be adapted, refined, based on local circumstances and contexts and priorities. Teams are expected to select and allocate tasks to members in a way that suits their organizational structures. In combination, the behavioural competencies and tasks can be used to identify capacity gaps, determine the capacity development needs of teams, support professional development and continuous improvement and inform recruitment processes.

The tasks in one area will often be closely connected to tasks in others. Throughout the framework key linkages between tasks have been added in brackets (e.g. refer to activity 2) to help identify how they relate to and complement each other.

### Fig. 3 Structure of practice activities



### 3.3 Practice activities

### Technical Area 1. RCCE system for emergencies

This technical area focuses on establishing and maintaining the systems and structures required to coordinate, plan, deliver and evaluate RCCE. It therefore informs and supports **all** the activities and tasks in the other two technical areas. Ideally the activities should be initiated during preparedness or readiness phases so they can be applied for response.

| Strategic planning  | g and | coordination  |
|---|-------|---|
| Practice activity   | Tasl  | ks  |
| 1. Plan for prevention and  | 1.1.  | Develop annual and multihazard plans based on anticipated risks, e.g. seasonal events, outbreaks and mass gatherings.   |
| preparedness<br>phases  | 1.2.  | Identify and map parties involved in readiness and response (refer to activity 5). This should:   |
|   |       | • answer the 4Ws: who does what, where and when;  |
|   |       | <ul> <li>dentify community members who can work as focal points.</li> </ul>   |
|   | 1.3.  | Establish and implement processes to identify under-represented disadvantaged, vulnerable and marginalized groups (refer to activity 5).  |
|   | 1.4.  | Map the RCCE capacity needs of partners and stakeholders.   |
|   | 1.5.  | Create a repository of tools and templates for future rapid development of new RCCE products.   |
|   | 1.6.  | Pre-position existing RCCE strategies and/or plans to implement prevention and preparedness interventions.  |
| 2. Establish and<br>maintain RCCE<br>coordination<br>and<br>(multisectoral)<br>partnerships | 2.1   | Collaborate with ministries (including across government, as appropriate and relevant) to establish and align coordination platform with national structures; detail the structures, functions, aims and objectives of the platform (refer to activities 13 and 20). This includes: |
|   |       | <ul> <li>developing or reviewing SOPs and ToRs for RCCE coordination;</li> </ul>  |
|   |       | <ul> <li>developing a protocol for community mobilization;</li> </ul>   |
|   |       | <ul> <li>integrating RCCE functions into national preparedness and response structures<br/>and plans and the incident management system.</li> </ul>   |
|   | 2.2   | Identify and engage operational stakeholders, including technical teams (e.g. health promotion, epidemiology, surveillance, infection prevention and control etc.), pillar focal points, coordination bodies and other operational agencies to ensure:                              |
|   |       | <ul> <li>their integration into decision-making processes (including assessments, planning and monitoring) related to RCCE to prevent duplication;</li> <li>sharing of communications and evidence.</li> </ul>  |
|   | 2.3   | Determine the frequency of meetings and modes of communications with stakeholders to ensure effective coordination.   |
|   | 2.4   | Collaborate with national leadership and technical teams to contribute to RCCE policy documents and position papers.  |

| _ | 1 | 6 | _ |
|---|---|---|---|
|   |   |   |   |

| 3. Develop and<br>implement<br>RCCE plans | 3.1 | Review existing evidence from other pillars and technical areas e.g. national risk assessments, readiness assessments, priority public health threats, epidemiological data (refer to activity 5).                       |
|---|-----|--|
| through the<br>coordination<br>platform   | 3.2 | Use as systematic and structured approach to integrate key issues from existing evidence and from RCCE evidence (detailed in activity 5).  |
| patierm                                   | 3.3 | Design a flexible national RCCE plan to influence behaviours that is based on evidence and aligned with national priorities and stages of the emergency cycle. This includes:  |
|   |     | <ul> <li>setting out strategic outcomes and objectives to guide the direction and focus of<br/>the plan;</li> </ul>  |
|   |     | <ul> <li>identifying and agreeing upon key activities, interventions and processes with<br/>relevant technical teams and deadlines to support the plan;</li> </ul>   |
|   |     | <ul> <li>localizing the plan to sub-national levels as appropriate.</li> </ul>   |
|   | 3.4 | Establish processes to implement each activity through the national plan.  |
|   | 3.5 | Implement RCCE interventions set out in the plan, through the coordination platform (refer to activities 14, 18 and 21).   |
| 4. Measure,<br>evaluate and<br>learn      | 4.1 | Develop MEL plan focused on outcomes, using guidance and tools* to define measurement, determine performance indicators related to RCCE interventions (including measuring changes in the community), systems and plans. |
|   | 4.2 | Implement the MEL plan: Apply indicators to test and measure progress and effectiveness of plans and interventions; conduct inter-action and after-action reviews.   |
|   | 4.3 | Assess whether plan and/or intervention was feasible and acceptable, was delivered as intended, and whether it had an effect on the target behaviour.  |
|   | 4.4 | Use MEL findings to regularly update and modify RCCE plans and operations.   |
|   | 4.5 | Share MEL data and findings through coordination platform and with communities.  |
|   | 4.6 | Promote the inclusion of RCCE indicators and minimum standards in national response plans.   |
|   | 4.6 |  |

MEL: Measure, evaluate and learn. \*Refer to Selected Further Reading section for suggested guidance on indictors.

### Evidence to inform planning and action

Note: The approach and tasks required for evidence production will vary based on the setting, level of resources, type of emergency and degree of urgency. During the initial stages of emergencies, evidence production often occurs concurrently with response activities.

| Practice activity                            | Tasks |  |  |
|--|-------|--|--|
| 5. Produce<br>evidence to<br>inform planning | 5.1   | <ul> <li>Compile existing evidence to inform RCCE planning (refer to activity 3). Consider:</li> <li>context / situational analysis to identify political, economic, social, technological, environmental, legal aspects affecting preparedness and response initiatives;</li> </ul>   |  |
|  |       | <ul> <li>community mapping of platforms at national and sub-national levels;</li> </ul>  |  |
|  |       | <ul> <li>needs analysis for effective engagement with CSOs, NGOs and community stakeholders;</li> </ul>  |  |
|  |       | <ul> <li>vulnerability mapping to identify institutional barriers for disadvantaged and<br/>marginalized groups;</li> </ul>  |  |
|  |       | <ul> <li>communication and media mapping to determine the communication<br/>approach and style as well as strategy. This includes identifying credible media<br/>sources, communication channels and influencers for different audiences; and,<br/>understanding how different social groups engage with the different channels<br/>such as access, usage, accessibility and preferences;</li> </ul> |  |
|  |       | <ul> <li>mapping of key RCCE stakeholders, including those in the media and working on<br/>information management.</li> </ul>  |  |
|  | 5.2   | Identify if there are recent data and evidence available (e.g. from partner agencies) to inform the RCCE plan.   |  |
|  | 5.3   | Where gaps exist, use a systematic and structured approach to prioritise and produce the types of evidence listed in task 5.1 and following the approach described in activity 6.  |  |
| 6. Produce<br>evidence to                    | The   | following tasks are adapted according to the response challenge that is being faced.   |  |
| inform action                                | 6.1   | Review existing evidence to deepen understanding of the issue and identify the need for new evidence.  |  |
|  | 6.2   | Identify who will use the new evidence and how. Define their need and involve them early.  |  |
|  | 6.3   | Decide the purpose of using new evidence i.e. to understand the problem (e.g. define<br>in terms of behavioural/social/cultural aspects, drivers, barriers); to develop solution;<br>or, to assess usefulness of an intervention.  |  |
|  | 6.4   | Create brief ToR to guide the process, e.g. why the evidence is needed, the question, how to answer the question (the method), who will do the work and what resources are needed (refer to task 7.3 and 7.4 on how to develop and maintain processes).  |  |
|  | 6.5   | Commission and/or conduct data collection and analysis. Consider, collaborating<br>with experts and community representatives to assess the evidence: quality,<br>relevance, robustness, trustworthiness and context sensitivity of the evidence to<br>inform MEL processes (refer to activity 4).   |  |
|  | 6.6   | Communicate findings (refer to task 2.2 and activity 20) to interpret and co-develop recommendations with responsibilities and timelines assigned. Include all relevant stakeholders and community representatives identified and through the coordination platform.   |  |
|  | 6.7   | Integrate recommendations into design of RCCE interventions and actions (refer to activities 14 and 21).   |  |

| 7. Develop<br>and maintain                               | 7.1 | Set up a data management system that addresses security, sharing, ownership, sensitivity, storage access, and plans for the preservation or destruction of data.   |
|--|-----|--|
| processes to<br>support robust<br>evidence<br>production | 7.2 | Ensure clear ToR are developed for external consultants / researchers who are<br>engaged in data collection, including on how they share evidence with other<br>stakeholders and the processes for data collection, analysis, interpretation and use.<br>Consider assisting in developing and contextualizing tools. |
|  | 7.3 | Check methods are appropriate to answer the research question and can lead to concrete, actionable recommendations:  |
|  |     | • Consider collecting social and behavioural data using mixed methods adapted to emergencies, e.g. apid anthropological studies / behavioural assessments, community/social listening data, community feedback, community dialogue and other qualitative and participatory approaches.                               |
|  | 7.4 | Check data are collected on key social and behavioural variables of relevance to<br>RCCE a nd fill the evidence gaps, e.g. communities' risk perceptions, confidence,<br>suggestions, expectations, trust, attitudes, communication needs, motivation and<br>capability to respond to risk.                          |

| Resource manage                       | ment |  |
|---------------------------------------|------|--|
| Practice activity                     | Tasl | KS   |
| 8. Manage<br>operational<br>resources | 8.1  | Create an operational resource plan to support the coordination platform, e.g. staffing, operational expenses, capacity-building, data collection and monitoring.                                    |
|                                       | 8.2  | Work jointly with other teams, departments and agencies to mobilise resources,<br>including budgeting and joint planning with pillars of the response, e.g. Incident<br>Management System structure. |
|                                       | 8.3  | Allocate financial, material and human resources as per agreements.  |
|                                       | 8.4  | Measure and evaluate use of financial, material and human resources to ensure efficiency and effectiveness.  |
| 9. Manage<br>human<br>resources       | 9.1  | Define clear organizational structures with delineated roles, responsibilities, delegation of authority, and reporting systems.  |
|                                       | 9.2  | Collaborate with key agencies and ministries to establish and agree upon necessary roles and responsibilities for RCCE, ensure efficient collaboration and prevent duplication of roles.             |
|                                       | 9.3  | Where needed recruit, train and support staff to ensure they have the relevant skills, experience and capabilities for RCCE.   |
|                                       | 9.4  | Reach consensus on whether there is a need for surge deployments, including inter-<br>agency RCCE roles.   |
|                                       |      |  |

### Capacity development

Note: The approach and tasks required for evidence production will vary based on the setting, level of resources, type of emergency and degree of urgency. During the initial stages of emergencies, evidence production often occurs concurrently with response activities.

| Practice activity  | Tasks  |  |  |
|--|--|--|--|
| 10. Design<br>capacity<br>development<br>and learning<br>experiences | 10.1 Formulate or update a learning strategy, e.g. for technical teams, media and community networks/representatives.  |  |  |
|  | 10.2 Identify learning needs through assessments covering each relevant practice activity.   |  |  |
|  | 10.3 Collaborate with subject matter experts and stakeholders to establish learning objectives and outcomes that align with RCCE goals and the needs and objectives of learners. |  |  |
|  | 10.4 Connect training initiatives to operational practice to demonstrate enhancements in capacity and function.  |  |  |
|  | 10.5 Create or select RCCE learning materials that align with RCCE goals.  |  |  |
|  | 10.6 Design and integrate simulation exercises that mimic real-world scenarios and allow learners to apply knowledge and skills in a controlled environment.                     |  |  |
| 11. Deliver  | 11.1 Deliver role/learner appropriate capacity development initiatives.  |  |  |
| capacity<br>development<br>and learning                              | 11.2 Implement simulation exercises to evaluate learners' performance in real-world settings   |  |  |
| experiences  | 11.3 Create opportunities for learners to connect with mentors and peers to build a supportive learning community.   |  |  |
|  | 11.4 Ensure that learning materials and resources are current, relevant and accessible to learners.  |  |  |
| 12. Assess   | 12.1 Collect feedback effectiveness and efficiency of learning experiences and strategies.   |  |  |
| learning   | 12.2 Assess the impact and evaluate the effectiveness of learning experiences.   |  |  |
|  | 12.3 Evaluate learners' knowledge and skills to ensure learning objectives are met.  |  |  |
|  | 12.4 Adapt capacity development initiatives based upon measurable indicators of success.   |  |  |
|  | 12.5 Review and revise learning outcomes to reflect changes in learner needs or programmatic requirements.   |  |  |

### Technical Area 2. Risk communication

| Practice activity                           | Tasks   |  |  |
|---|---|--|--|
| 13. Plan content                            | 13.1 Examine the content from national RCCE plan to identify objectives for risk communication content (refer to activity 3).   |  |  |
|   | 13.2 Determine priority risk communication needs and priorities of affected populations by:   |  |  |
|   | <ul> <li>segmenting priority audiences and developing risk communication objectives<br/>based on data and informed by response strategy;</li> <li>identifying themes and opportunities to align with evolving communication<br/>objectives.</li> </ul>  |  |  |
|   | <ul><li>13.3 Participate in the Joint Information Centre or equivalent structure to coordinate and align communications outputs between agencies (refer to activity 2).</li></ul>   |  |  |
|   | 13.4 Maintain ongoing communication with relevant technical teams to ensure alignment<br>and responsiveness (refer to activity 2).  |  |  |
| 14. Develop,<br>test and deliver<br>content | 14.1 Develop specific risk communication outputs and interactions based on the evidence on priority audiences, information needs, and communication channels.   |  |  |
|   | 14.2 For each communication output / interaction, define communication objectives and<br>outcome (e.g. single overarching communication outcome), target audiences and<br>timing.   |  |  |
|   | <ul> <li>Use technical health information, infodemic data and social-behavioural<br/>evidence relating to the target population and context.</li> </ul>   |  |  |
|   | 14.3 Develop overarching and supporting messages to convey health risks and drive change in behaviour; test messages as part of routine activities.   |  |  |
|   | 14.4 Create compelling narratives and content based on messages to effectively communicate health risks, incorporating relatable stories that resonate with community values.   |  |  |
|   | <ul> <li>Strike a balance between factual information and emotionally resonant content,<br/>complemented by visual elements.</li> </ul>   |  |  |
|   | 14.5 Tailor and adapt narratives and messages to resonate with specific audiences and cultural sensitivities, using culturally relevant examples and language. Ensure that content:   |  |  |
|   | <ul> <li>aligns with RCCE goals, objectives and evidence to encourage behaviour change;</li> <li>empowers audiences, encourages audience participation and directs people to sources of additional or updated information and communicates uncertainty where applicable;</li> </ul>                                   |  |  |
|   | <ul> <li>maintains timeliness, consistency, clarity, conciseness, audience relevance<br/>informed by the latest available data;</li> </ul>  |  |  |
|   | <ul> <li>navigates sensitive topics with ethical consideration and cultural awareness.</li> </ul>   |  |  |
|   | 14.6 Deliver communication interventions through diverse media platforms and approaches to reach diverse audiences, e.g. call-ins for radio and TV, drama and comedy programming, discussion and magazine programmes, speeches, community meetings, animations and posts for digital platforms, videos, posters, etc. |  |  |
|   | 14.7. Continually update based upon new insights, data and evaluation.  |  |  |

| 15. Content   | 15.1 Monitor content effectiveness according to the MEL plan (refer to activity 4).  |
|---|--|
| evaluation  | 15.2 Regularly assess the impact of content on audience comprehension and behaviour to test the effectiveness and suitability of each risk communication output.   |
|   | 15.3 Collect feedback to refine content and approaches.  |
| Media engagemer   | ıt   |
| Practice activity   | Tasks  |
| 16. Build<br>relationship<br>with / capacity<br>of media<br>organisations | 16.1 Refer to communication and media mapping (activity 5).  |
|   | 16.2 Foster relationships with media representatives, networks, digital influencers and content creators, including organizations training and coordinating with media in emergencies.   |
|   | 16.3 Develop an RCCE media and communication engagement plan with clearly defined<br>objectives, timelines and tailored strategies for print, broadcast, and online media<br>and key influential platforms. It should identify which organizations and individuals<br>will be involved in providing communication activities, including infodemic<br>management. |
|   | 16.4 Regularly communicate with the media, while building their capacity to report accurate information. Including:  |
|   | <ul> <li>developing clear, concise, and informative press releases at regular intervals tha align with RCCE objectives and emergency response updates;</li> <li>creating opportunities for the media to ask questions and get answers to build their updates of health issues and response.</li> </ul>   |
|   | <ul> <li>their understanding of health issues and response;</li> <li>collaborating in the development of media communication materials and talking points, one-to-one briefings and interviews;</li> </ul>   |
|   | <ul> <li>producing content for the media containing essential information such as<br/>situation overview, actions taken, and calls to action;</li> </ul>   |
|   | <ul> <li>supporting management and hosting of press conferences and high-level interviews;</li> </ul>  |
|   | <ul> <li>providing risk communication support and training to spokespersons and media<br/>representatives (refer to practice activity 11);</li> </ul>  |
|   | <ul> <li>providing access to behaviour change expertise to support the development of<br/>communications formats for traditional media and digital platforms to support<br/>engagement as well as risk communication.</li> </ul>   |
|   | 16.5 Contribute to the MEL plan to assess the effectiveness of the media engagement<br>and communication engagement plan. Include reviewing media content as well as<br>understanding audience engagement and impact.  |
|   | 16.6 Monitor and measure the reach and impact of media engagements.  |
|   | 16.7 Adapt the approach to media engagement based on feedback, the MEL plan and evolving circumstances.  |

| Media engagement*                   |   |  |  |
|-------------------------------------|---|--|--|
| 17. Plan<br>infodemic<br>management | 17.1 Establish a platform for dynamic multisource listening and/or social media tools to support event and community-based surveillance, rumours and inform broader risk communication activities.  |  |  |
|                                     | 17.2 Establish taxonomies for priority national hazards to support in rapid responses during emergencies.   |  |  |
|                                     | 17.3 Develop a plan to integrate infodemic management as part of a national RCCE plan (refer to activity 3). Taking into account:   |  |  |
|                                     | <ul> <li>information: Amplifying factual information, filling information voids, debunking<br/>false information, information tracking;</li> </ul>  |  |  |
|                                     | <ul> <li>providing infodemic resources for public health communicators;</li> </ul>  |  |  |
|                                     | <ul> <li>providing resources and standards for media organizations, key digital<br/>influencers, journalists, and fact checkers, managing scientific literature,<br/>resources for infodemic researchers and managers, social media regulation,<br/>policy and legislation (refer to activity 16);</li> </ul> |  |  |
|                                     | <ul> <li>enhancing digital, media and health information literacy.</li> </ul>   |  |  |
|                                     | 17.4 Share SOPs for infodemic management with relevant technical pillars (through the coordination platform, activity 2) for consideration in risk assessments as well as informing ongoing operational responses.  |  |  |

\* More detailed competencies and activities for those whose work focuses on infodemic management are set out in the WHO Infodemic Management competency framework (20).



### Technical Area 3. Community engagement

Building relationships with communities is a priority during preparedness and readiness phases; tasks during these phases should seamlessly transition and be maintained in response phase activities.

| Strategic planning and coordination               |   |  |  |  |
|---|---|--|--|--|
| Practice activity                                 | Tasks   |  |  |  |
| 20. Build<br>relationships<br>with<br>communities | 20.1 Examine content from national RCCE plan and evidence (activity 6) to identify community engagement objectives. E.g. consider participation of all relevant population groups and networks in processes, such as goal setting, readiness and response activities and identifying community focal points for information dissemination.  |  |  |  |
|   | 20.2 Determine priority community engagement activities to align with goals and mechanisms for participation, based on evidence:  |  |  |  |
|   | <ul> <li>community mapping and identified trusted community structures, particularly among vulnerable groups (refer to task 1.3 and activity 5);</li> <li>conducting participatory assessments with communities to identify needs, capacities, resources, support structures, communication channels, practices and behaviours, and stakeholders, and sharing the results.</li> </ul> |  |  |  |
|   | 20.3 Mobilize existing assets and community-based health initiatives, such as community-based surveillance and detection; reporting; community-led responses, leveraging local capacities and resources.  |  |  |  |
|   | 20.4 Undertake localised preparedness and response planning with communities:   |  |  |  |
|   | <ul> <li>identify community risks, priorities, needs, resources and solutions, and ensure that they are integrated into plans and proposed interventions;</li> <li>consider everyday threats, e.g. food security, availability of safe shelter, access to transport, which may impact wellbeing.</li> </ul>   |  |  |  |
|   | 20.5 Establish ongoing and proactive outreach through multiple channels (e.g. hotlines, complaint systems, community listening, feedback mechanisms) and clear lines of two-way communication for routine feedback on community concerns and issues of interest. Emphasis should be placed on:  |  |  |  |
|   | <ul> <li>vulnerable and under-represented groups in distinct, targeted feedback mechanisms;</li> </ul>  |  |  |  |
|   | <ul> <li>seeking formal approval and acceptance from local leadership and community representatives.</li> </ul>   |  |  |  |

| 21. Maintain<br>engagement<br>with<br>communities | 21.1 | Maintain mechanisms that support collective and participatory approaches to<br>enable effective communication and feedback mechanisms with communities,<br>address feedback and lead to corrective action. Establish or maintain a<br>community listening system to: |
|---|------|--|
|   |      | <ul> <li>document and track communities' concerns and perspectives, both offline<br/>and online, including about response interventions and their social/ economic<br/>impacts;</li> </ul>   |
|   |      | <ul> <li>validate community listening and social listening data;</li> </ul>  |
|   |      | <ul> <li>communicate actions resulting from community feedback.</li> </ul>   |
|   | 21.2 | Develop action plans with communities to prioritize activities, ensuring inclusive approval from an inclusive range of leaders.  |
|   | 21.3 | Design locally relevant engagement activities, using participatory techniques e.g. co-<br>designing with community representatives, human-centred design. This includes:   |
|   |      | <ul> <li>emphasising response to priorities and needs identified by marginalized and<br/>disadvantaged community members;</li> </ul>   |
|   |      | <ul> <li>co-developing solutions to social or economic impacts arising from response<br/>interventions;</li> </ul>   |
|   |      | <ul> <li>adapting community engagement tools/activities to local languages and contexts;</li> </ul>  |
|   |      | <ul> <li>mapping details of planned community engagement events.</li> </ul>  |
|   | 21.4 | Use multimodal channels to engage with communities, including two-way communication at community and household levels, mass media, digital platforms and social media.   |
|   | 21.5 | Collaborate with communities to analyse evidence needs and co-develop recommendations to inform further action.  |
|   | 21.6 | Provide briefings and supervision to community outreach groups.  |
|   | 21.7 | Conduct training and regular refresher sessions for community outreach groups.   |
|   | 21.8 | Design and deliver capacity development activities that enhance locally relevant skills and tools, including:  |
|   |      | <ul> <li>building the capacity of affected populations to collect their own data, design<br/>methodologies and identify data gaps and requirements;</li> </ul>   |
|   |      | • supporting community capacity and resources to make decisions and take action.   |
| 22. Monitor<br>community                          | 22.1 | Establish monitoring mechanisms to systematically incorporate community feedback.  |
| engagement  | 22.2 | Monitor community feedback mechanisms and share findings back to communities.  |
|   | 22.3 | Adapt interventions based on monitoring results and feedback.  |
|   |      |  |
# 4. Application and future adaptation of the RCCE competency framework

The RCCE competency framework is designed with adaptability in mind and should be contextualized to meet the specific needs and arrangements where it is being applied. It provides a comprehensive universal structure of the range of behavioural domains and technical areas which are essential for the effective implementation of RCCE activities to prepare and respond to public health emergencies. Recognizing the diverse capabilities across different settings, countries will need to select and prioritise those competencies that are most essential and relevant to their specific contexts.

How the framework is put into practice will vary based upon who is using it and what they aim to achieve with it. The framework does not propose a single method for its use. This section provides several suggestions on how the framework may be used or applied by different users and audiences.

The framework serves as a reference tool and can be used to:

- identify and address capacity gaps, determine capacity development needs and monitor their evolution over time; support professional development; and, in inform recruitment of RCCE workforce (see 4.1).
- guide the development of training programmes and learning resources (see 4.2).
- provide a consistent and standardized understanding of the technical area of RCCE for other stakeholders (see 4.3 and 4.4).

The framework is supplemental and not intended to supersede existing or established RCCE operational guidelines.

# 4.1 RCCE teams at regional, national or organizational levels

Leaders of RCCE teams are encouraged to tailor the framework as a standardised reference for their teams to plan the development of a comprehensive set of competencies which are suitable for their specific operational environment. While it will not always be feasible to for a team to perform all the activities described, the framework should serve as a foundational element for setting goals and augmenting team capabilities, alongside guiding overall team objectives and workplans. The goals and objectives will be influenced by the size of the team, the availability of resources and local priorities. WHO has planned the development of additional resources to support these processes, these will be integrated into the forthcoming RCCE curriculum.

#### **Capacity needs assessments**

The framework is intended to serve as a reference tool for designing or refining needs assessments to identify capacity or capability gaps in individual team members or across broader RCCE teams. The results of needs assessments can be used to develop performance indicators that align with the key learning needs and expected competencies of teams and/or individuals. In contexts where the results of needs assessments identify a shortfall in team capacity, the results can be used to seek additional support through enhanced training, funding or staff augmentation.

### Performance evaluation and continuous professional development

At an individual level, the framework can be used to guide the setting of performance objectives and indicators. For this purpose, it is important to acknowledge that behaviours are observable, making the behavioural competencies of this document suitable for developing behavioural indicators relevant for any role. Successful task performance demonstrates the application of behavioural competencies in practice (additional information is shown in Annex 1). Mastery of behaviours, measured against indicators, demonstrates competency in performing roles effectively (27). Assessment tools for gauging competence must include clear criteria to decisively determine whether an individual has achieved the required level of performance to be considered competent (28).

Having identified needs and /or evaluated performance, RCCE staff and leadership can collaborate to outline learning pathways and plans for achieving higher proficiency levels. The framework serves as a flexible tool rather than a directive. Team leaders are expected to choose and assign tasks to members in a way that align with their organizational structures and operational dynamics. The WHO Enhanced Global Competency Model and the Global Competency and Outcomes Framework for Universal Health Coverage suggest approaches to assigning behavioural indicators to particular job grades (7,21).

#### Recruitment

The competencies and activities described in the framework serve as a foundation for delineating job roles and developing consistent job descriptions and ToRs that correspond with the behaviours and tasks in the framework. While varied job titles may encompass identical tasks or identical job titles, the framework's flexibility allows for the correlation of specific behaviours may entail different responsibilities based on context. This flexibility allows for the correlation of specific behaviours and competencies to job-specific tasks in a given context or operational environment.

#### 4.2 Learning experience designers

### Using the framework to inform development of RCCE learning programmes.

The framework is to provide a foundational component of the comprehensive RCCE curriculum in development by WHO. When applied, the framework can inform the content of learning and training programmes developed by WHO headquarters and regional and country offices. It is also structured to support and enhance content developed in collaboration with, or commissioned by, academic partners and implementing partners.

The practice activities of the framework delineate the essential functions that RCCE teams should be proficient in, which forms an organizing framework for learning programmes and experiences. These competencies are contextualized through practice activities, rendering the framework a practical tool for curriculum development. Learning and training initiatives can be designed on the basis of what the learner will do in practice (practice activities encompassing the performance of tasks) and the standards to which these are performed (competencies demonstrated through behaviours (7).

This framework is an initial component of a comprehensive, competency-based RCCE curriculum under development by the RCCE-IM team at WHO headquarters. Competency-based education is a framework for designing and implementing education that focuses on the desired performance characteristics (28). Although competence has always been the implicit goal of more traditional educational frameworks, competency-based education makes this explicit by establishing observable and measurable performance metrics that learners must demonstrate to be considered proficient in a particular area of study or occupation.

Main characteristics of a competency-based curriculum:

- Learner-centred approach: Focuses on outcomes important for learners' success and allows for personalized learning paths.
- Clear competencies: Involves well-defined objectives that describe the expected abilities of learners upon completion of the programme.
- Mastery learning: Ensures learners achieve a level of mastery in each competency before progressing to more complex skills.
- Flexible pacing: Allows learners to progress through the curriculum at their own pace, providing more time where needed to achieve mastery.
- Assessment alignment: Uses assessments that are directly aligned with competencies, ensuring that evaluation methods are authentic and directly related to the required skills and knowledge.
- Evidence-based: Requires learners to provide evidence of their competency, often through practical demonstrations, projects, or portfolios.
- Continuous improvement: Encourages learners to continuously develop their competencies beyond the minimum standards for proficiency (28).

### Applying the framework to evaluating learning pathways

After the development of learning programmes and training materials, the framework is instrumental in their evaluation. There are many tools which can be used for this purpose, depending on the exact needs and desired outcomes. One widely recognized and applied framework for evaluating the effectiveness of training programmes is the Kirkpatrick Model of Learning Evaluation (29). It comprises four levels: Reaction, Learning, Behaviour and Results. A sample of how this model can be applied to is set out in Annex 2.

## 4.3 Health and development partners working in health emergencies

RCCE practice involves engagement with CSOs active in local health and community initiatives and the public health workforce directly involved in service provision and community outreach. The framework provides these groups with a common lexicon and outlines a uniform approach to RCCE competencies and practices. This standardized approach is intended to empower partners to understand the effective management of health emergencies and the intersection of RCCE and how they can contribute to expected RCCE action through their roles and activities. The framework also delineates the competencies needed to communicate risks effectively and co-create solutions with the communities they serve.

#### 4.4 Health policymakers and officials

Health policy makers and officials at all levels can use the information set out in this framework to deepen their understanding of the role of communities as active, equal partners in public health emergency preparedness and response activities. The framework also serves as a tool to advocate for national RCCE capacity building, to guide policies that facilitate adherence to IHR; and to ensure integration within emergency management structures to increase coordination and collaboration.

# 4.5 Future adaptations and next steps for the competency framework

This framework will be periodically reviewed and updated to reflect advancements in RCCE research and instructional design best practices. Adaptations will be made based upon the following:

- revisions to IHR benchmarks and reporting tools;
- feedback on the framework's implementation process, ensuring its continuous refinement;
- emerging trends, technologies, and methodologies in RCCE, integrating them into the competency framework as required;
- research and studies on the effectiveness of RCCE practices, using findings to enhance the framework further;
- learner success tracking: monitoring and evaluating the impact of the framework on learner outcomes to inform necessary curriculum adjustments.

The creation of the RCCE Curriculum is based upon the competencies described in this framework. To enhance the practical application of the framework, a suite of tools and learning experiences – including RCCE-specific needs assessments, performance evaluations and structured training packages – are currently in development. These resources are set to be progressively released and to supplement and update existing materials accessible through WHO's digital platforms, such as OpenWHO and the Health Security Learning Platform (HSLP) and the HIVE community platform.

Current WHO learning offerings include scenario and simulation-based trainings, topical and diseasespecific modules, preparatory courses for field deployment, and micro-learning sessions. To maintain consistency with this new framework, necessary existing materials will undergo revision. This initiative aims to ensure that learning outcomes are aligned with the competencies described, enabling learners to apply knowledge effectively in real-world settings and to engage in continuous professional development that is responsive to the evolving landscape of global health security.

### 5. References

- WHO benchmarks for strengthening health emergency capacities. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2023. (https://iris.who.int/bitstream/ handle/10665/375815/9789240086760-eng. pdf?sequence=1) accessed 1 March 2024).
- Strengthening health emergency prevention, preparedness, response and resilience. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2023. (https://cdn. who.int/media/docs/default-source/emergencypreparedness/who\_hepr\_wha2023-21051248b. pdf?sfvrsn=a82abdf4\_3&download=true) accessed 21 February 2024).
- Evidence, policy, impact. WHO guide for evidenceinformed decision-making Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021. (https://iris.who.int/bitstream/ handle/10665/350994/9789240039872-eng. pdf?sequence=1 accessed 21 February 2024).
- Briand S, Hess, S, Nguyen T, Purnat T. Infodemic management in the twenty-first century. P1. In: Purnat T, Nguyen T, Briand S. (eds) Managing infodemics in the 21st century. Springer, Cham; 2023. (https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-27789-4\_1 accessed 24 February 2024).
- Report of the open-ended intergovernmental expert working group on indicators and terminology relating to disaster risk reduction. Note by the Secretary-General. New York: United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction, 2016:A/71/644; 2016. (https://www. undrr.org/publication/report-open-endedintergovernmental-expert-working-groupindicators-and-terminology accessed 21 February 2024).
- Mills J, Middleton J, Schafer A, Fitzpatrick S, Short S, Cieza A. Proposing a re-conceptualisation of competency framework terminology for health: a scoping review. Hum Resour Health. 2020; 18, 15. (https://doi.org/10.1186/s12960-019-0443-8 accessed 24 February 2024).
- Global competency and outcomes framework for universal health coverage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022. (https://iris.who.int/bitstream/ handle/10665/352711/9789240034662-eng. pdf?sequence=1 accessed 24 February 2024).

- 8. Guide to writing Competency Frameworks v0.3. Geneva: WHO Academy; 2020. [Unpublished]
- 9. Standard operating procedures for competencybased frameworks, standards and competencybased course outcomes. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2022. [Unpublished].
- International Health Regulations (2005): States Parties Self-assessment annual reporting tool, second edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021. (https://cdn.who.int/ media/docs/default-source/health-securitypreparedness/cap/spar/9789240040120-eng-new. pdf?sfvrsn=5dc09bd9\_7 accessed 24 February 2024).
- Joint external evaluation tool. Third Edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022. (https://iris.who.int/bitstream/han dle/10665/357087/9789240051980-eng. pdf?sequence=1 accessed 24 February 2024).
- Policy brief: Building trust through risk communication and community engagement. WHO/2019-nCoV/Policy\_Brief/RCCE/2022.1. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022. (https:// iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/362670/ WHO-2019-nCoV-Policy-Brief-RCCE-2022.1-eng. pdf?sequence=1 accessed 24 February 2024).
- International Health Regulations, (2005) 3rd edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016. (https://iris.who.int/bitstream/han dle/10665/246107/9789241580496-eng. pdf?sequence=1 accessed 24 February 2024).
- Risk communication. International health regulations 2010-2017 [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization. (https://www.who.int/data/ gho/data/indicators/indicator-details/GHO/riskcommunication accessed 1 March 2024).
- Pandemic influenza preparedness framework. Partnership contribution high level implementation plan III 2024-2030. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023. (https://iris.who.int/ bitstream/handle/10665/366981/9789240070141eng.pdf?sequence=1 accessed 1 March 2024).

- Minimum quality standards and indicators for community engagement. Geneva: United Nations Children's Fund; 2020. (https://www.unicef.org/ mena/media/8401/file/19218\_MinimumQuality-Report\_v07\_RC\_002.pdf.pdf accessed 24 February 2024).
- Core competency framework for surge personnel. Surge optimisation. Geneva: International Federation of the Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies; 2019. (https://www.ifrc.org/document/ core-competency-framework-surge-personnel accessed 24 February 2024).
- Ablah E, Elliott J, et al. Public health preparedness and response core competency model. American Journal of Disaster Medicine; 2013. 8(1):49-56 doi:10.5055/ajdm.2013.0110.
- WHE health emergencies programme learning strategy. Companion documents. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018. (https://cdn.who. int/media/docs/default-source/documents/ publications/companian-documents-whohealth-emergencies-programme-learningstrategy9161fc6f-1c15-4f1f-a4b9-8b0c27b507b0. pdf?sfvrsn=84640d96\_1&download=true accessed 24 February 2024).
- WHO competency framework. Building a response workforce to manage infodemics. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021.(https://iris.who.int/ bitstream/handle/10665/345207/9789240035287eng.pdf?sequence=1 accessed 10 January 2024).
- Enhanced WHO global competency model. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015. (https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/ who-careers/who-enhanced-competence. pdf?sfvrsn=aae66472\_3&download=true accessed 18 December 2023).
- 22. Risk communication and community engagement action plan guidance: COVID-19 preparedness & response. Geneva: International Federation of the Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies, United Nations Children's Fund, World Health Organization; 2020. (https://www.who.int/ publications/i/item/risk-communication-andcommunity-engagement-(RCCE)-action-planguidance accessed 18 December 2023).

- Technical note from the WHO Technical Advisory Group (TAG) on behavioural insights and science for health. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2021. (https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/ technical-note-from-the-who-technical-advisorygroup-on-behavioural-insights-and-science-forhealth accessed 22 February 2024).
- COVID-19 global risk communication and community engagement strategy – interim guidance. Geneva: Collective Service; 2020. https:// iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/338057/WHO-2019-nCoV-RCCE-2020.3-eng.pdf?sequence=5 accessed 22 February 2024).
- Boer D & Fischer R. How and when do personal values guide our attitudes and sociality? Explaining cross-cultural variability in attitude-value linkages. Psychological bulletin; 2013. 139 5, 1113-47. doi. org/10.1037/a0031347.
- Managing epidemics: key facts about major deadly diseases, second edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023. (https://www.who.int/ publications/i/item/9789240083196 accessed 8 March 2024).
- Gregory A, Fawkes J. A global capability framework: Reframing public relations for a changing world. Public Relations Review;
   2019. 45. 101781. (https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pubrev.2019.05.002 accessed 22 February 2024).
- Gruppen L, Mangrulkar R, & Kolars J. The promise of competency-based education in the health professions for improving global health. Hum Resour Health 10, 43; 2012. (https://doi. org/10.1186/1478-4491-10-43 accessed 1 March 2024).
- Li Z, Cheng J, Zhou T, Wang S, Huang S, & Wang H. Evaluating a Nurse Training Program in the Emergency Surgery Department Based on the Kirkpatrick's Model and Clinical Demand During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Telemedicine Journal and e-Health. 2020. (https://doi.org/10.1089/ tmj.2020.0089 accessed 1 March 2024).

### 6. Selected further reading

This section provides a selection of reference resources to support the development of plans, tools and assessments for RCCE teams in their contextualization and application of the framework. Resources already provided as references within this document are not repeated here.

10 steps to community readiness. A toolbox for community engagement to support COVID-19 response [website]. Geneva: Collective Service; 2020. (https://www.rcce-collective.net/rcce-10-steps/).

**Communicating with communities in epidemics and pandemics: Risk Communication and Community Engagement (RCCE) Readiness Kit**. Washington DC: Ready Initiative; 2022. (https://www.readyinitiative.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/RCCE-Kit\_15June-202222-1.pdf)

**Community engagement: a health promotion guide for universal health coverage in the hands of the people**. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020. (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/334379)

**Community engagement and accountability toolkit** [website]. London: British Red Cross; 2021. (https:// communityengagementhub.org/resource/cea-toolkit/).

**Community engagement in emergencies preparedness and response.** E-course. Geneva: United Nations Children's Fund; 2021. (https://agora. unicef.org/course/info.php?id=28675).

**COVID-19 global risk communication and community engagement strategy – interim guidance**. Geneva: International Federation of the Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies, United Nations Children's Fund, World Health Organization; 2020. (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/covid-19-global-risk-communication-and-communityengagement-strategy).

From words to action: Towards a communitycentred approach to preparedness and response in health emergencies. Geneva: International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies; 2019 (https:// www.gpmb.org/annual-reports/overview/item/ from-words-to-action-towards-a-community-centredapproach-to-preparedness-and-response-in-healthemergencies). **Guidance for after action review (AAR).** Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/311537)

Hotline in a box – full toolkit [website]. London: British Red Cross. 2020. (https:// communityengagementhub.org/wp-content/uploads/ sites/2/2020/04/200325\_Full-toolkit.pdf)

Minimum quality standards and indicators for community engagement. To guide development and adaptation for detailed tasks and indicators for Community Engagement. Amman: United Nations Children's Fund; 2020. (https://www.unicef.org/mena/ media/8401/file/19218\_MinimumQuality-Report\_v07\_ RC\_002.pdf.pdf).

Principles and steps for applying a behavioural perspective to public health. Technical Note from the WHO Technical Advisory Group (TAG) on behavioural insights and science for health. Geneva: World Health Organizstion; 2021. (https:// cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/documents/ bi-tag-technical-note1\_principles-and-steps. pdf?sfvrsn=efdefb39\_5)

**RCCE-IM capability mapping tool [website].** Copenhagen: World Health Organization; 2023 (https://uohgcbpwhod-wa.azurewebsites.net)

**Risk communication and community engagement** (RCCE) action plan guidance: COVID-19 preparedness & response. Geneva: International Federation of the Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies, United Nations Children's Fund, World Health Organization; 2020. (https://www.who. int/publications/i/item/risk-communication-andcommunity-engagement-(rcce)-action-plan-guidance).

Strengthening community protection and resilience: regional strategy for community engagement, 2023-2030. Brazzaville: World Health Organization; 2023. (https://www.afro.who. int/sites/default/files/2023-08/AFR-RC73-9%20 Strengthening%20community%20protection%20 and%20resilience%20-%20regional%20strategy%20 for%20community%20engagement.pdf).

World Health Organization strategy for engaging religious leaders, faith-based organizations and faith communities in health emergencies. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/347871).

### Annexes

#### **Annex 1. Foundational models**

Additional information about behaviours and practice activities

There is considerable variation in the definitions of terminology used in competency frameworks in the health sector. Figure A1. provides a visual depiction of the key terms and how they relate to each other.

Two key resources provided the foundational framework which describe in informed the structure and approach to developing of the behaviours which are person centric and through which competencies are expressed (1,2). The models present these in conjunction with a core RCCE practice activities and tasks which are ascribed to specific occupational roles (illustrated in Fig. A.2) (1,2).

A given situation might require the integration of multiple competencies, and every competency has the potential to underpin the performance of any practice activities within an individual's role and responsibility. They are embodied by an individual, are non-technical and cross-cutting: they translate across multiple roles, activities and tasks. Competencies can be expressed through numerous behaviours, they are the observable (explicit) components of competencies and encompass (implicit) knowledge, skills and attitudes. The existence of knowledge, skills and attitudes can be inferred from the presence or absence of the associated behaviours demonstrated through the performance of tasks (2,3). The foundational model for this framework presents the characteristics of the key terms adopted as follows (2).

#### Fig A1. Distinguishing attributes from competencies and activities.



Source: Mills et al. 2020 (1)



#### Fig. A2. Differentiating between competency (as person-centric) and activity (as role centric).

Source: Mills et al. 2020 (1)

- 32 -

| Competency      |  |
|-----------------|--|
| Definition      | The ability of a person to integrate knowledge, skills, and attitudes in their performance of tasks in a given context. Competencies are durable, trainable and, through the expression of behaviours, measurable                      |
| Characteristics | Continuous, ongoing abilities  |
|                 | May develop or erode with time   |
|                 | Enables performance of multiple practice activities  |
|                 | A person can possess a competency  |
|                 | A competency is demonstrated in the context of performance   |
|                 | Requires the integration of knowledge, skills and attitudes  |
|                 | <ul> <li>The behaviour demonstrating the competency defines the standard for<br/>performance • A competency is multifaceted (demonstrated through multiple<br/>behaviours)</li> </ul>  |
|                 | Behaviours are the measurable expression of a competency   |
| Practice activ  | vity   |
| Definition      | A core function of health practice comprising a group of related tasks. Practice activities are time limited, trainable and, through the performance of tasks, measurable. Individuals may be certified to perform practice activities |
| Characteristics | Describes the common goal of a group of tasks  |
|                 | • Time-limited, discrete actions, observable from start to finish  |
|                 | Requires the application of knowledge, skills and attitudes  |
|                 | <ul> <li>A person can perform a practice activity or task, but they cannot possess it • The<br/>unit of assessment, certification or regulation</li> </ul>   |
| Task            |  |
| Definition      | An observable unit of work within a practice activity that draws on knowledge, skills and attitudes. Tasks are time limited, trainable and measurable  |
| Characteristics | • Time-limited, discrete actions, observable from start to finish  |
|                 | Requires the application of knowledge, skills and attitudes  |
|                 | • A person can perform a practice activity or task, but they cannot possess it   |
|                 | The unit of assessment, certification or regulation  |
|                 | A smaller, measurable unit within a practice activity  |
|                 | <ul> <li>Does not achieve a goal in itself; is abstract unless considered in the context of th<br/>wider practice activity • Performance is measurable on a dichotomous scale (yes<br/>or no)</li> </ul>                               |

#### Competency

#### **References to Annex 1**

- Mills J, Middleton J, Schafer A, Fitzpatrick S, Short S, Cieza A. Proposing a re-conceptualisation of competency framework terminology for health: a scoping review. Hum Resour Health. 2020; 18, 15. (https://doi.org/10.1186/s12960-019-0443-8 accessed 24 February 2024).
- Global competency and outcomes framework for universal health coverage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022. (https://iris.who.int/bitstream/ handle/10665/352711/9789240034662-eng. pdf?sequence=1 accessed 24 February 2024).
- WHE health emergencies programme learning strategy. Geneva: World Health Organization;
   2018. (https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/ documents/publications/companian-documentswho-health-emergencies-programme-learningstrategy.pdf?sfvrsn=84640d96\_1 accessed 24 February 2024).

# Annex 2. Applying the framework to learning pathways

The Kirkpatrick Model of Learning Evaluation is a widely recognized and applied framework for evaluating the effectiveness of training programmes (1). It comprises four levels: Reaction, Learning, Behaviour and Results:

How the Kirkpatrick Model is used in training and learning experience evaluation:

#### Level 1: Reaction

At this initial level, the focus is on the participants' immediate response to the training or learning experience. Evaluation methods include surveys or feedback forms filled out by the participants posttraining. Questions may cover the training's relevance, engagement level, and the participants' perceived value. This level aims to gauge the overall satisfaction and emotional response of the participants towards the training or learning experience.

#### Level 2: Learning

The second level assesses what knowledge, skills, attitudes, confidence, and commitment participants have gained from the training. This is typically measured through pre- and post-training assessments, tests, or interviews to quantify the learning outcomes. The goal here is to determine the extent of learning that has occurred as a direct result of the training.

#### **Level 3: Behaviour**

This level evaluates the extent to which participants apply what they've learned during training in their everyday work life. Behaviour change is assessed through observations, interviews, or by reviewing performance metrics post-training.

#### Level 4: Results

The final level measures the impact of the training on organizational goals and outcomes. This could include improvements in metrics associated with each domain or practice activity. Level 4 aims to link the training directly to tangible results and the overall success of initiatives and activities.

In each domain, the Kirkpatrick Model helps to structure the evaluation of training programmes, ensuring that they effectively contribute to the enhancement of RCCE in global health emergency preparedness and response.

To illustrate the application of the Kirkpatrick Model to the behavioural competencies of the RCCE competency framework, examples for each behavioural domain are set out below. This approach can be further elaborated for each domain.

#### **Domain 1: Community-centred approaches**

#### **Level 1: Reaction**

Participants complete a survey after a workshop which covers community-centred approaches during a health emergency. They rate the session's relevance to their work and express their satisfaction with the interactive components that allowed them to practice community dialogue.

#### Level 2: Learning

Pre- and post-workshop assessments measure participants' understanding of community engagement/empowerment principles and their ability to identify key community stakeholders in emergency scenarios.

#### **Level 3: Behaviour**

Several months post-training, participants are observed facilitating community meetings to discuss emergency response plans, demonstrating their ability to place communities at the centre of RCCE practice.

#### **Level 4: Results**

The long-term impact is evaluated by measuring increased community participation in health emergency plans and the establishment of communityled initiatives as a result of the training.

#### **Domain 2: Leadership and decision-making**

#### Level 1: Reaction

Leaders provide feedback on a training event or module which covers leadership and decision-making, for example highlighting the practical exercises in methodical and action oriented decision-making.

#### Level 2: Learning

Assessments gauge the leaders' ability to apply a methodical approach to decision-making and manage tensions and conflicts constructively.

#### **Level 3: Behaviour**

Post-training, these leaders are monitored to see if they exhibit improved leadership and professional conduct during emergencies and/or emergency simulations.

#### **Level 4: Results**

The effectiveness of the training is measured by the agency's or ministry's improved response times and decision-making quality during actual health emergencies.

#### **Domain 3: Communication**

#### Level 1: Reaction

After a communication skills training, participants rate the training for its focus on, for example, active listening and purposeful, timely communication.

#### Level 2: Learning

Participants' skills in active listening and professional communication are evaluated through role-playing exercises and feedback from workshop or training facilitators.

#### **Level 3: Behaviour**

In their roles, participants are observed to ensure they are employing the communication techniques learned, such as during press briefings or community outreach.

#### **Level 4: Results**

The success of the training is linked to demonstrated public understanding of health communications.

#### **Domain 4: Collaboration**

#### Level 1: Reaction

Feedback from a collaborative skills workshop indicates the level satisfaction in the group activities, for example, those that simulated cross-sectoral partnership building.

#### Level 2: Learning

The acquisition of collaborative skills is measured through tests that require participants to design a collaborative RCCE plan for emergency response. - 34 -

#### **Level 3: Behaviour**

Participants' ability to cultivate teamwork and build partnerships is assessed in their subsequent collaborative projects with other agencies and community groups.

#### **Level 4: Results**

The training's impact is evaluated by the number and quality of new partnerships and the effectiveness of joint emergency response efforts.

#### **Domain 5: Evidence-informed practice**

#### Level 1: Reaction

Reactions to a seminar on evidence-informed practice are collected and evaluated on, for example, collaborating with behavioural science experts.

#### Level 2: Learning

Participants' ability to assess integrate relevant data is measured through exercises where they must identify how evidence can be used to develop RCCE objectives.

#### Level 3: Behaviour

The application of evidence-informed practice is observed in participants' work, such as how they incorporate data into emergency response strategies.

#### **Level 4: Results**

The ultimate success of the training or learning experience is linked to more data-driven decisionmaking in the agency's or ministry's emergency preparedness and response activities.

#### **References to Annex 2**

 Li Z, Cheng J, Zhou T, Wang S, Huang S, & Wang H. Evaluating a Nurse Training Program in the Emergency Surgery Department Based on the Kirkpatrick's Model and Clinical Demand During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Telemedicine Journal and e-Health. 2020. (https://doi.org/10.1089/ tmj.2020.0089 accessed 1 March 2024).

### World Health Organization

20 Avenue Appia CH 1211, Geneva 27 Switzerland

rcce@who.int www.who.int/emergencies/risk-communications

